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2. 
Justification for Inscription 

2(a) Significance 

"New Lanail: is signijicw zt in itse!£ but even moreso 
whenseen aspart ofa chain at oneend ofwhich is 

thefounder DavidDale who linl<s itdirectly to 
Ar/?wright and hence the birth of the industrial 
revolution, in the middleRobertOwenuntli allhis 
otherschemes, and at the other endhis visionary 
disciples on both sides ofthe Atlantic. Ifoneincludes 
the beginnings of trade unionand co-operative 
movements, and Owensinfluence on education, the 
rainijications are immense."(T.A. Markus)' 

New Lanark is a unique reminder that the 

creat ion of wealth does not automatically imply 

the degradation of its producers. The village 

offers a cultu ral response to the challenges 

presented by industria l society, and was the test­

bed for ideas that sough t to reform humanity. 

Today th e village provides physical evidence of 

Owen's model for a New Moral World. 

New Lanark is a great landscape modified, 

through the medium of architecture, to meet 

th e needs and vision of a pion eering working 

community. 

The simple grandeur of th e Scottish urban 

tenement traditi on comes through both in th e 

tall New Buildings and in the architectural 

treatment of th e the n new demands of mill 

constru ct ion. Co nt rast and variety are given by 

ind ividual buildings,belt the th em e remains 

good prop ortion, good masonry and simplicity 

of deta il. The art isan' s understanding of Scottish 

classical vernacu lar, built up through the 18th 

century; reaches someth ing of an apogee at New 

Lanark. This common bu ild ing language 

produces a mon umental un ity of character 

rema rkably suited to convey to us today the 

idealistic paternalism of David Dale's and 

Robert O wen's great enter prise. 

New Lanark Nursery Buildings, New BUildings and Mill Number 1, 2000. 

1 T A Markus Bui/dings and Power , (1993) p286 
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Carra Linn, by Jacob More, 1771. (NLCT/National Galleries of Sco tland) 

The community spirit gene rated by Dale, 

fostered by Owen, and nurtured by subsequent 

owners, has survived th e end of manufacturing 

and rapid slide into decay, and also th e stresses 

of again becoming a showpie ce. New Lanark 

att racted atte ntion in the days of Dale and 

O wen as a model villageand one of th e greatest 

sights of its kind. Today, warmed by th e ideas of 

two of th e greatest and most hu mane 

industrialists of the ind ustrial revolution, 

it has become again one of the greatest sights 

of its kind. 

New Lanark combines this unique cultural 

heritage with an outstand ing natural sett ing. 

The gorge in which it is located contains, by 

volume, th e greatest waterfalls in Britain. These 

became an essential stop for every late 18th and 

early 19th century picturesque tourist, a resou rce 

for outstanding poets and artists, the response to 

which is still readable in th e landscape and 
visible on th e walls of our national galleries. The 

Falls of Clyde have achieved iconic statu s as th e 

archetype of th e picturesqu e or sublime 

land scape in Britain. They have been visited, 

writte n about, drawn, painted and 

photograph ed for some 300 years. Today's 

visito rs stand on th e sam e ground to admire the 

Falls as did artist ic and literary figures such as 
William VVordsworth, William 'RImer and Sir 

Walter Scott. 

Without th em our appreciation of sublime 

scenery would not be what it is today. O wen 

commissioned artists ' views of New Lanark th at 

firmly place it in th is awesome, yet designed, 

cultural landscape. 

2(b) Comparison with Other Similar 

Properties 

A small number of inscribed wor ld heritage 

sites have an industr ial character,and the 

majority of th ese are mining settleme nts, such as 
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Banska Stiavnica, Slovakia. New Lanark was first 

nominated as a World Heritage Site in 1986, but 

inscription was deferred unt il comparison cou ld 

be made with other sites and criteria identified 

that could! together with criterion (vi), justify 

inscript ion. There is therefore a need to expand 

here on New Lanark's world significance as a 

new purpose-built textile village, as one dictated 

by water-power! as part of a picturesque 

land scape! as a paternalist colony and as of very 

special universal value as a prototype utopian 

community. 

The only text ile complex so far to have been 

inscribed as a World Heritage Site is Crespi 

dAdda in Lombardy, Italy fou nded in 1875 by 

Cristoforo Crespi, and where nu merou s 

community buildings (church, orphanage, 
school, hotellaun dry ) to a common Italian 

gothic motif were erected between 1893 and 

1925.2 The philanth ropic aims of th e owner 

were tempered by the need to retain a 

workforce at that water-powered site and to 

dominate it even beyond the grave from an 

enormous ziggurat mausoleum ofl907 H ousing 

was initially in blocks, latte rly as cottages. T here 

are similarit ies w ith the much earlier New 

Lanark, and also 'with Saltaire, not least in the 

combination of founder's nam e with the river 

on which the sett lement sits. Crespi dAdda is an 

excellent bu t relatively late example of th e genre. 

In Southern Italy, th e World Heritage Site at th e 

Royal Park of Caserta includes within it th e San 

Leucio silk factory founded in 1789 as part of 

the intended utopian city of Ferdinandopolis. It 

is therefore described below 

To offer a context, numbers of oth er sites will be 

me nt ioned in the following pages. As a preface, 

it should be noted that New Lanark predates 

the great major ity mentioned. While relative 

antiquity of a site is not in itself sufficient to 

justify outstanding universal value, w hen the 

site \NaSwidely publicised at the time and 

served as a model to which others aspired, the 

early date assumes greater significance. 

New Lanark as an Improvement 

village of the Scottish Enlightenment 

New settlements have been made for the 

following reasons: 

1) improvement of a barren or un der-developed 

landscape and growing po pulation 

2) econ omic exploitat ion of resources! such as 

mineral s! timb er or water-power 

3) idealism: utopianism. 

New Lanark fitted all three: found ed as part of 

en a general wave of new comm unit ies in 
enlightenment Scotland and (2) to harness 

water-power to new factory systems. The place 

is mad e st ill more remarkable for th e ideas that 

it prompted regarding th e possibility of (3) 

shap ing a better society by a fresh sta rt, 

Scotland in th e age of improvement of the later 

18th century saw phenomenal change in the 

landscape, an agricu ltural revolut ion in th e 

south and depopulat ion in th e nort h. Planned 

settlements sprang up everyw here.' Many fell far 

short of ambitions, such as New Leeds in 

Buchan and Lochbay (or Stein! 1790-98) in Skye, 

by the British Fisheries Society. Some, where the 

layout and origi nal buildings are still 

recognisable include Inveraray Newcastleton, 

Keith and Grantow n-on-Spey: usually a grid 

plan around formal squares occupied by pu blic C resp i d ' A d d a 

2 A Fohl , A and M Hamm. Die Industriegeschichte des TeXli/s (1988) pp14 2, 144-7. Information also from website and Bud gett Meakin Model Factories and 
Villages (1905) pp357-8 
3 TC Smout counts 126 new sett lements in his " The Landowner and the Planned Village in Scotland, 1730- 1830" in Scotla nd in the Age of Improvement . NT 
Phillipson and R Mitchison, ed itors (1970). 
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Inveraray. Scotland.1989 

buildings such as chu rch, courthouse, orp hanage 

and so on. Scots had developed such abilities in 

planni ng new settlements that one, W illiam 

Hastie, went on from 1795-1832to lay out 

anothe r 100 in Russia, som e, Moscow included, 

very large indeed. 

The earliest well-preserved housing of the 

industrial revolution in Scotland is at 

Charlestown, Fife, built from 1759 to su pply lime 

to Carron Ironworks as single storey terraces laid 
out to th e intials -C.E.- of its ow ner around a 

green. This was followed in th e 1790 s by similar 

single storey houses for bleachers and weavers at 

for e-xample Trottick north of Dundee and 

Carlops south of Penicu ik. Both of these 

haml ets are conservation areas. A greater 

number of once comparable communit ies are 

today unrecognisable du e to alterations . 

New Lanark's hillside location and topography 

militated against th e generous spacing, low-rise 

and formal layout th at was achieved in most of 

the recognised planned settlements. The streets 

are terraced and th e housing is stacked vertically; 

comi ng u p to the height of th e mills. In this 

New Lanark prefigured the characteristic 

tenements later found in Scottish cities. Even 

New Lanark, Scotland.1999 

th e cotton spinn ing villages of Cat rine, w hich 

had th e tw ist mill at the centre of its square, and 

Stanl ey conform to a more conventional grid of 

two-storey tene ment blocks. However; New 

Lanark's organic layout appeal ed to picturesque 

sensibilities at th e end of the century, and th e 

place has retained its intimate character ever 

since. 

So wh ilst New Lanark looks distinctively 

different from other planned sett lements of th e 
period, Dale's m otivation - a combination of 

improvement, profit, philanthropy and concern 

to stem emigration (ironic given th e direct ion it 

drove O wen) - makes th e village emblematic of 

a host of other; less well preserved, communities. 

New Lanark as a company village 

The company tow n may be defined as a 

sett lement created by a single enterprise and ru n 

in such a way as to attract, retain and contro l th e 

workforce. The ter m was first applied in English, 

pejoratively; to mining camps in th e 
Appa lachian mountains of th e United States. 

Parallel terms brul: in Swedish and cite ouuriere 
in French carry less negative un dertones. 
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The first settleme nt ident ified as having been 

created specifically for a dedicated workforce is 

Deir e1-Medina, for th e art isan creators of th e 

royal necropolis in Upper Egy pt!1524-1518 Be. 

The excavated single-sto rey houses of three or 

four linear apartments com pare favourably w ith 

the one or two rooms provided for families in 

New Lanark 3,200 years later. Social and 

spiritua l provision was also made, in th e form of 

tombs and temples. However, subsequent 

exam ples, slave plantations apart, are few or less 

we ll stu died, before th ose of the 19th centu ry. 

An outstanding example in Belgium is Le 

Grand Hornu, an engineering works arranged in 

an oval courtya rd linked by arcades completed 

in 1831 and now mostly preserved as an 

unroofed ru in. H ere, 400 hou ses buil t between 

1819 and 1832 are two-storey each of six rooms. 

Owner Legrand said he "was trying to attract 

strong m en byunheard -of comforts " which 

makes him paternalist rather than utop ian. 

Another m od el company village is th e Menier 

cho colate factory,Noiseul, near Paris, wh ich saw 

large sem idetached houses with garde ns (60 by 

1878, 100 by 1889, 156 by 1896) follow 

complet ion of the celebrated w rought-iron 

skeletal-fram ed, turbine factory in 1872. The 

village incorporated free schools, din ing rooms, 

laundry and baths.' 

". _ . 
- . .. - ..~.. 

In modern times, com pany housing was a 

liability to th e owner. Return on investment was 

either low or nil, and housing was usu ally of 

superior quality than could normally be 

obtained for th e price, in order to be attractive 

to tenants. Pullman in Illinois, USA (from 1880) 

found tha t excessive pate rnalism backfired, and 

handed the hou sing, now much damaged, on to 

private landlords. 

In England the pro totype garden villages are 

conside red to be Port Sunlight, Che shire, (for 

Lever Brothers, from 1888) and Bournville 

(Cadbury's, mostly from 1895), set up after 

factori es decamped from town centres to green 

fields. In terms of town planning th ey are simi lar 

to th e Kru pp settleme nts in Essen, Germany. 

T he Widely spaced housing in gardens differs 

d ram at ically from New Lanark, but th e ideas 

behind these co mm unities make some close 

connect ions despite th e hundred-year gap. At 

Boumville there was a strong em phasis on 

outdoor activity and recreation, and at Port 

Sunlight heavy paterna lism accompanied an 

excellent art galleryTra ining of body and mind 

was similarly to the fore in Owen' s New Lanark 

80 years earlier. 

T he recognised potent ial of a single-purpose 

enterp rise to t ranslate into reality what could 

,.:; 

,;.... -: 
~ ..,-

- •.I!~.. 

Deir el-Medina, Luxor, Egypt 

" John S Garner "Noiseul sur Marne and the Ville Industrielle in France" in The Company Town, John S Garner, Ed (1992). Meakin (op Cit, 1905) pp3 55-7: 
"the streets themselves are not interesting ." 
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New Earswick , York 

-
otherw ise only be dream ed about attracted the 

most creat ive 20 th century architects to work 

on industrial settlements, such as Alvaar Aalto 
,~ at th e Sunila cellulose factory 0937-39), Kauttua 

pulp mill 0 938-40) and associated housing in 
Finland . The Bata factor y and housing at Zlin, 
Moravia (Le Corbusier's plans "vere rejected in 

favour of Frantisek Ca hwa), and East Tilbury; 
Essex, near th at for Critta ll at Silver End 

(Thomas Tait and F. McManus, ]926), in 

England, offer other examples. British pioneer 

town plan ners Parker and Unwin were given 

rein by confecti oners Joseph and Seebohm 

Rowntree at New Earswick, York (from ]901), 

before they could famously design Letchworth 

Garde n C ity ( 903) and Hampstead Garden 

Suburb ( 905). 

The connection be tween th e company town 

and the possible bett erment of society was first 

made in a small nu mber of special places 

founded in th e late ]8th century, New Lanark 

foremost among th em . 

Arkwright Mills in England and 
Beyond 

Richard Arkw right' s genius was to assemble 

oth er people's ideas,and a few of his ow n, into a 

workable factory system that produ ced a 

commod ity cotto n yarn, for which th ere was an 

insatiable demand. He first harnessed his system 

to a water wheel at Cromford in Derbyshire. 

Necessarilj, he sought to keep imitators out of 

his mills and so Crornford was never as openly 

accessible as New Lanark, fou nded ]4 years later 

during th e surge of interest that accompanied 

challenges to his paten ts. Richard Ark wright had 

th en corne "to find a razor in Scotland to shave 

Manchester" and was briefly a founding partner 

at New Lanark and Stanley Mills, but was 

longest and most closely associated with the 

Crornford Mills that were his own creation .' 

In England the prin cipal groups of Arkwright­

ty pe mills are in Derbyshire: Crornford, 

Wirksworth, Milford, Belper and Darley Abbey: 

collectively very important, even if in less 

pr istine settings. The Milford mills have been 

demoli shed and the hou sing at Crornford and 

Belper is scattered infill within exist ing 

settlements, rathe r than entirely new creations. 

Darley Abbey (from 1783) on th e outskirts of 

Derby, was more of a single-company village. 

Arkwright and St rutt's role in developing th e 

factory system th ere, technica l innovations in 
iron-fram ed constructio n ano neatmg systems, 

and variations in house types, give these places 

internation al significance. New Lanark, through 

Richard Arkwright's part icipation ill th e original 

partnership, and loan of technical expertise, 

owes a debt to Cro rnford (foun ded by 
Arkwright in 177]), and so, less directl )~ does 

every othe r cotton mill in the world. 

The principal mills, and most of th e associated 

hous ing, in th e Derwent Valley are protected as 

listed buildings within conservat ion areas. The 

Ark wright Society is making steady progress in 

the conservation and interpretation of mills at 

C rornford. There the first cotton mill in th e 

world is reduced to a three-storey shell that 

resembles the state of New Lanark's Mill I prior 

5 RS Fitton The Arkwrights Spinners 01 Fortun e (1989) 
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a) b) 

c) d) 

e) 

Mills and Housing in Derbyshire:
 

a) Cromford Mill (1771), in 1987
 

b) North (1804) and East (1912) Mills ,
 
Belper, in 1992.
 

c) Long Row, Selper, (1792-7)
 

d) Brick Row, Darley Abbe y, (1826)
 

e) Masson Mill
 

nThe stai r in Masson Mill runs behind
 
the left Venetian windows. The door
 
serves a privy. The same arrangement
 
applied at New Lanark Mill Number 1
 

n 
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has recent ly been well adapted to retail and ~., ..:'i!! t 
. ' -': 

:;:,:. : visitor fu nct ions. Together, the mills there, and 
~.:; 

the detailed account of Belper North Mill in 

Rees Cyclopedia which may be compa red w ith 

t he actual building, help to fill the gaps in our 

understanding of the details of the mills at New 

Quarry Bank Mill, Styal, Cheshire 

Gayle Mill , Hawes, Yorkshire, 1784 

\.-3.1:\:<l:C\\... P\.T\. '=J(.<I.\l:\.'9\'= \s the '\'er'l cb s\:s\\"ml,'d't\\.'-j 

between the intact wooden stair w ith counti ng 

house/su pervisory rooms at each land ing at 

Masson M ill, and the m asonry shell of the 

p rojecting stair, of similar dimensions, at New 

Lanark Mill N umber 1. 

Q uarry Bank Mill, Styal, Cheshire, established in 

1784, is in an attra ctive wooded setting and 

retains the co mm unity build ings t hat served it, 

but t he scale is much sm aller: 2,425 sp indles in 

1,796,3,452 in 1,805, 4,000 in 1811 (to New 

Lanark 's 30) 10 in 1813J The community 

buildings include the two-storey apprentice 

house (tor 100 in two shifts), later ext ended, 

O ak Schoo l built in the 1820s, and cottages 

rebuilt in the 1830s: rents and wages we re low. It 

is a well preserved and popula r visitor att ract ion, 

w ith machinery b rought in to wo rk as the 

principal cotton mill m useu m south of 

Man chester. 

The majority of cotton mills built in the explosion 

of interest folbvingthe reversalof Arkwright's 

patents were small-scaled and short -lived. Their 

su rvival rate is greater in rural areas such as Cumbria 

and the Dales of Yorkshire than in Lancashire, 

where the industry took off There are good, but 

small examples at Gayle Mill, Hawes,bu ilt 1784, 

converted to flax spinning in 18B and th en to a 

- . 
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saw mill, Askrigg Mill and Sett le Bridge Mill, all 

conforming to a pattern ofan isolated three­

storey building 20 met res long and 10 metres 

wid e." 

The first Arkwright mill in cont inental Europe 

was Brugelmann's C rornford Mill, Rat ingen, 

Germany. Fou ndations of a l,OOO-spindle type 

rnill have been excavated. A second rnill, now 

known to date from around 1800, has been 

converted back from housing to a museum in 

whi ch replica water frame s, modelled on tha t in 

Helmshore, England, work again. Tenemented 

workers' housing and the owner's house 

surround the mill, but modem housing has 

obliterated the gardens. 

Replica sp inning machinery at 
Cromford Mill , Ratingen, German y. 

Other Arkwright-type mills in Scotland 

The Bell Mill at Stanley, near Perth, was built in 

1786 and shares a bri ck exterior over a stone 

basement w ith the similar treatment of North 

Mill, at Belper; Masson and Wirksworth Mills, in 

Derbyshire. Unlike New Lanark, Catr ine and 

Masson, Stanley lacks Venet ian windows, and 

the bellcote, original office and sta ir were 

located at th e gable of the mill rather than in a 

central stair tower. Its most striking feature is the 

use throughout of cru ciform cast-iron COIU 111l1S, 

mo re to carry th e driving system than for 

structural reasons : th e oldest to be found in any 

mill. The wate r system begins, Similarly to New 

Lanark, with a weir and tunnel, but differs in 

that th e lade bifurcates to feed two sets of 

wheels beside and parallel to two mills. 

A rchaeological investigation has found that the 

East Mill ofl799 originally had a transverse 

basement wheelpit in the New Lanark manner; 

but there had not been room to fit larger wheels 

in that location. Stanley Mill was less 

eco no mically secu re, being supported financially 

and technically by th e New Lanark Company 

from 1800 -1813, receiving a water wheel from 

the New Lanark foundr)~ for example. 

Stanley Mills are now in the care of H istori c 

Scotland and two of th e biggest mills have been 

converted to ho using by the Phoenix Trust 

T he village developed fitfu lly as a two-storey 

grid, is less well preserved than New Lanark, is 

not visible from the mills, and is not a 

conservation area. 

Bell Mill , Stanley Mills, Perth shire (left) and village (right). 

6 George Ingle Yorkshire Cotton (1997) 
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a) 

b) 

e) 

c) 

f) 

g) 

a) b) Deanston Mill, Doune, Scotland; the 1830 new mill and 
dome-vau lted weaving shed . The 18th-century mill stood to its 
right. The housing lines the lade to the left, and pairs of doors 
have been comb ined to serve single tenement stairs 

c) Blantyre: The mill stood above and to the right of the wheel 
arch. The only remaining workers' housing is on the hill beyond, 
and is preserved as the birthplace of David Livings tone 

d) Catrine: The twist mill - before demo lition in 1968 - stood in 
the middle of a square, like the doub ie church in inveraray. 
(RCAHMS, 1960) 

e) The Old End at Johnstone Mill, Renfrewshire, 1787 

f) g) Cartside Mill Kilbarchan. Renfrewshire, 1794, under 
demolition in1992 

d) 

16
 



N o m i na t ion of NE '.i\' L A N A R K f or l n c t u s i o n In 'h2 W OR LD HE'1ITA3E LI ST 

Deanston Milt Doune, Perthshi re was founded 

in 1785, but the original mill was d emolished in 

1947. T he earliest single-storey hou sing no lon ger 

exists, A conservat ion area protects surviving 

two-storey hou sing erected in 1811 and 1820, 

which hou sed 1,20 0 people in around 1840. 

Exta nt m ill buildi ngs, now part of a w hisky 

dist illery,date from 1830 and 1949. 

Blanty re, Lanarkshire, was founded by David 

Dale in 1787 an d sold in 1792.The five-storey 

mill and most of the housing has been 

demolished, leaving a th ree-storey tene ment 

preserved as the birthplace (in a single-roomed 

ho use) of African explorer David Livingstone. 

This is the closest comparab le type to the 

housing at New Lanark but has external 

turnpike stairs. 

Catrine, Ayrsh ire, was also founded and co­

ow ned by Dale from 1787-1801.The mule and 

twist mills were demolished in 1946 and 1968, 

th e housing is altered and the most significant 

rema ining element is th e water system. 

Spinni ngdale Mill, Sutherland, 1792, is of interest 

as having been founded by a partnership 

including David Dale for philanthropic motives, 

to ste m emigration from th e Highlands. In 

Owen's view "th e locality was unfavo urable for 

extension or for permanent establishment",so 

Dale sold his interest in 1804 and it burned 

down in 180 6.' It now fonn s a romantic but 

unstable ruin , with heatin g tower and Venetian 

windows to hint at its New Lanark parentage. 

In Rentrewshire, Johnstone M ill, th e fifth cotton 

mill in Scotland, was founded by Corse Burns 

and Co in 1782 and extended in 1787, the latter 

st ill existing as th e "Old End" of Pato n's bootlace 

wo rks. It contains heavy joisted timber floors 

comparable to Stanley Mills. The other big 

wate r-powered mills that su rvived until recently 

- Ca rts ide 1794}at Milliken Park, with two tier s 

of Venetian windows, and Feren eze, 1803 at 

Barrhead - were demolished in 1992. Bot h had 

cylindrical cast-iron columns through out 

At G atehouse of Fleet, the Bobbin Mill was 

buil t as th e lesser of two cotton spinning mills in 

Gatehouse of Fleet: the ruins of the twist mill, the restored 
Bobbin Mill (in 1994) and Scott's Mill abov e 

Spinningdale Mill, Sutherland 

1788 and was restored in 1987-92 from a rui nous 

shell . T he archaeological value is therefore 

limited to the walls and water systems. r N O 

waterw heel s installed th ere contain 

components brought from neighbouring grain 

and saw mills ofl824 and 1924. A no the r smaller 

cotton milt Scott's, (790), has been made dow n 

into two three-storey houses.T he sm all planned 

industrial town never justified the hopes placed 

in it 

O nly at New Lanark does t he 18th-century 

housing still have a close visual relationship with 

its mill, and there are only two other 18th-centu ry 

mills in Scotland th at are better preserved 

internally. 

7 A.J. Cooke "Cotton and the Scott ish Hiqhland Clearances - the Developme nt of Sp inninqdale 1791-1806" in Texti le Histo ry 26 (I) 1995 . ppS9-94 
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New Lanark's place in the Scottish 
cotton industry 

In 1787 there were, according to S.D. Chapman's 

revision of Colqu houn's census, 26 cotton mills 
bu ilt on Arkwright princi ples in Scotland, 182 in 

England and Wales, four in France and Five in 

G ermany." O nly a few of th ese have survived in 

any fOIll1. Those at New Lanark were then 

much th e largest: th e Arkwright standard was 

],000 spindles, but at New Lanark, Mill 2 alone 

had 6,000 spindles in 1793, rising to 11,676 in 

1813. New Lanark was then easily th e biggest 

mill complex in Scotland and in the 1790s had 

probably been th e biggest in the wo rld. 

In 1835 th ere were 159 cotton mills in Scotland, a 

textile district still seco nd in size in the world to 

th e 779 in Lancashire and C hes hire. 

In 1850 Britain had 21 million spindles spin ning 

cotton, France 4.2 million, the USA 2.5 million, 

the Austrian empire 1.4 mil lion and th e Russian 

empire 1.1 million . Scotland th en contributed 1.4 

million of the British total, equalling the entire 

production of Austria, H ungary, Czechoslovakia, 

Yugos lavia and pa rts of Italy. 

British domination of the cotton ind ustry 

meant also a leading edge in machinery 

manufacture and technical development, 

although from th e early 19th century this 

position was und er attack as all developing 

count ries sought to nurture th eir ow n cotto n 

indu stry. 

T he American Civ il \tVar cotto n fam ine and 

growing foreign co mpetition hit th e Scott ish 

industry hard. T he number of cotto n factories 

in the west of Scotland fell from 149 in 1850 to 

64 in 1875 and kep t falling.9 T he survivors 

concent rated on thread production, net making 

and other part icular specia l forms of cloth 

rather than attem pting to match head-on th e 

th en do mina nt Lancashire indu stry Scotland's 

last cotton spin ning mill, (Anchor Thread Mills, 

Paisley) closed in 1993. 

T he conseque nce of this early decline is that th e 

19 surviving Scottish cott on spinning mill 

buildings represent either th e very earliest phase 

of tI e in ' . "':::- I . : " r (in iust four cases) 

the b est ­ :::;0- d: t.I'.c e .d of the 19th 

-UrllOiiilt"U .0 obtain economies 

in scale. :-\ew L ..1 , . is an exceptionally well 

preserved repr sen '1 ive rom th e earliest phase, 

and always was unique. 

New Lanark's Mill 3 in the 
development of iron-framed mill 

architecture 

New Lanark has a place in th e evolution of 

modem, metal-fram ed architect ure, forming an 

importa nt interchange in developments in 

building technology. l\/lill 3 has Fireproof iron ­

fram ed const ruc tion dating from the 1820s and 

1830s under iron stru t and timber roof trusses. 

T he link to Mill 4 has flagged floors on iron 

grids and a wrought and cast iron roof unique 

in Scotland and matched in England only 

in Admiralty shipyards and Beehive Mill, 

Ancoats, Mancheste r. 

Arch ed b rick const ruction springing from iron 

beams was a type then unique to the United 

Kingdom. The first of its ty pe in the wo rld is at 

Ditherington, Shrewsb ury, England, 1797, and 

the seco nd to su rvive is North Mill, Belper, of 

1804, which conforms to the linen lineage of 

cru ciform colum ns. Every subsequ ent iron 

fram ed cotton mil l has cylind rical columns after 

th ose used at the demolished Salford Twist Mill 

of180l. T here are estimated to be arou nd 50 

iron-framed buildings exta nt in England, and 

five in Scotland", New Lanark's No 3 among 

Ditherington Flax Mill, Shrewsbury, England, the world's first 
iron framed building, erected in 1797. 

8 S.D.Chapman "The Arkwnqht Mills· Colquhoun's Census 01 1788 and Archaeologic al Evidence" in Industrial Archaeology Review Vol VI No 1 1981,2 pp5·2 6 
9 W.W.Knox Hanging bya Thread: the Scolli sh Cot ton Industry c.1850-1914 (1995) 
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Mill Number Three, New Lanark, with Platt Brothers mule of 1891 under a brick arched , iron-framed ceiling. 

them, preceding the development in 1830 of 

theoretical formulae for beam design, and before 

many had been built on the continent 

Architecturally Mill 3's proportions, central 

pedim ent and advanced bays, make it amongst 

the first of a small group of sophisticated neo­

classical spinning mills. It was followed by Travis 

Brook Mill,Stockport, Lancashire (1834) and 

Robinwood Mill, Todmorden, Yorkshire (1839) 

both with advanced end pavilion wings, and 

both now demolished. Dean Cloug h A Mill, 

Halifax (1840), Foily Hail Mill, Huddersfield 

(1844) both Yorkshire, and Ettrick Mill, Selkirk, 

Scotland 083 6 and 1850) repeat the form ula of 

central pediment and advanc ed wings, and 

culminated in th e massive pedimented mills of 

Dundee, such as Tay Works 0 851-65J. 

Most mills of the earlier 19th century were 

absolutely un om arnented, obtaini ng their 

architectural presence by sheer bulk and 

repetition of elements. This is the forcefu l 

impression given by the long six-storey Clyde 
Ettrick Mill, Selkirk, Scotland, from whic h the mule was 

River fron tage of New Lanark Mills. transferred to New Lanark. 

10 Keilh Falconer "Fireproof Mills- the Widening Perspec tive" in Industrial Archaeology Review XVf, No 1. (1993). The Scottish mills are Broadford Works in 
Aberdeen, 1808 and c1821, Old Rulherglen Road, Glasgow, 1816, Stanley Mid Mill , c1823, New Lanark No 3 Mill circa 1826/33. Logie Works, Dundee, 1828. 
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New England cotton mill communities 

at waterfalls 

A sign of the early pressures on, and the 

advanced nature o£ the Scottish industry is the 

extent to which Scots mill engineers took the 

chance to emigrate, taking th eir know-how 

abroad. Following the passage from Derbyshire 

to Rhode Island of Samuel Slater w ith his 

memorised spinning technology, th e power 

loom was int rodu ced to A merica in 1815 by a 

lVIr Gilmour with patterns from Glasgow Jam es 

Montgomery was anoth er, born in Blantyre on 

th e Clyde in 1794 (see above) and recruited from 

managing a G lasgow mill in 1836 to run 

American mills. His Practicaldetailofthe Cotton 
Manufactureofthe UnitedStates of America, and 
thestateof the cotton manufacture ofthatcountry 
contrasted and compared with thatofGreat Britain 
(840) remains the essential text for th e history 

of the American industry and offers insights 

into the Scottish rnills he left behind." 

Montgomery took as typical of best Scotti sh 

pract ice an urban steam powered mill, which he 

contrasted with American mills! nearly all of 
which were water-powered. In describing many 

of the features of the American mills he could 

in fact have been describing New Lanark: mills 

of four to five storeys and a semi-b asem ent, with 

an architectural feature made of the centra l stair 

tower; as were the original mills in New Lanark. 
The first of the Mills, always "Number O ne!' 

and invariably distinguished from th e others by 

its bellcote cupola, wo uld stand at th e end of a 

lade, or power canal. Between one and six othe r 

mills, numbered sequentially; wo uld stand in 

line parallel to the lade, closely spaced but 

initially deta ched from each other and from 

lower;parallel, picking houses. The principal 

difference externally was th e double monitor 

roof,giving way in the 1840s to conventionally 

pitched roofs similar to th e British model! before 

moving on to shallower pitches. Co nstructional 

paths diverged with the use of iron frames in a 

min orit y of British mills from 1797 and the 

"slow burning" timber floor in America from 

1826. The standard American mill was 50 

metres long and 15met res wide: New Lanark's 

Mills I, 2 and 4 are th e sam e length but 

originally nine! ten and 11 m etres wide! 

appare ntly w ithout interna l supports and 

constrained by t imbers less substantial than 
were available in America. 

The tall brick or masonry American mills are 

often described as to th e Waltham System! after 

the place of its first use in 1814, and to 

distinguish th em from the small t imber-clad 

mills w hich hou sed th e techn ology first 

transferred by Samuel Slater from Belper. They 

were most often sited on th e rivers in New 

Hampshire and Massachusetts th at dropped 

from plateau to plateau! hence mill 

communities at Great Falls 0826-30: brick 

boarding houses destroyed, timber family 

houses survive) and Salmon Falls (woollen: 

some hous ing survives from 1820s-60s) At the 

waterfall com pany towns of Dover (Mill 1built 

1812, Mill 2 1821 etc) and Newma rket (1823,1825 

etc) the boarding ho uses are destroyed." Schools 

and libraries feature relatively early in the 

provision offered at th ese company towns. Each 

in th eir own way owes someth ing of their 

dom estic, social and moral welfare provision, in 

the accompanying barracks and boa rding 

hou ses! as well as in the management of water to 

spin cotton! to New Lanark. 

The world's biggest cotton millcomplex 

developed from 1838to 1912to employ 15,500 

'workers, 24,000 looms and 670!000 spindles. 
Amoskeag Mills, Manchester,New Hampshire 

acknowledges a debt in the name of its city to 

Manchester, England, b ut its layout! parallel to 
th e power canal taken from Amoskeag Falls! 

owes rather more to New Lanark. 

Lowell, Massachusetts! was so successful that it 

became a city. Ten companies repeated between 

1824 and 1848 th e New Lanark pattern along 
powe r canals planted with tree-lined walks to 

offer th e mill girls promenades as far as 
Pawtucket Falls. A key difference with New 

Lanark is that its population was very transient. 

Provision of boarding ho uses for th e respectable 

accommodat ion of farmers' daughters from 

11 David J Jeremy Technology and Power in the Early American Cotto n Industry (1990)
 
12 Richard M Candee "Early New En91andMill Towns of the Piscataqu a River Valley" in J .S. Garner ed., The Company Town (1992)
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Bird' s Eye View of Lowell, Mass., USA, in 1876. Cotto n mills (2 Merrimack , 3 Laurence, 6 Boo tt, 7 Massac husetts, 9 Tremont and 
SUffo lk) are each aligned axial to or parallel to their power canals, wi th rows of mill girl boarding houses perpendicu lar to them . 
Massachusetts Mills are a mirror image to the layout of New Lanark. (American Text ile History Museum, Lowell, Mass.) 

round about were an im portant part of Lowell's 

init ial success. Two and three-storey brick 

te rraces SUcl1 as th ose of the Me rrimack Co. on 

Dutton Street are demolished . Now that Lowell 

- declared America's first urban natio nal park 

in ]978 - is recovering its identity it became 

ne cessary to reconstru ct a row ofl837 boardi ng 

hou ses in ord er to fill a gap in the telling of the 

story. Four of the ten mill complexes at Lowell, 

including the first, the Merrimack Co , and 

Lowell Machin e Shop, are entirely demolished, 

but others, such as Boott Mills exist, well 

adapted to other uses. 

T he similarities be tween th e mills of New 

England and those of New Lanark, laid out 40 

years previousl y suggest not only a functional 

response to th e harnessing of a waterfall but 

familiari ty with the pioneer at New Lanark. 

Nathan Appleton, the Walth am part ner, who 

helped found the town of Lowell in 1821, met 

Francis Cabot Lowell in Edinburgh in 1810, and 

on his tour of Scotland made careful notes on 

the experimental factory at New Lanark, 

describing it s production, use of waterpower, 

and app arent prosperity,I] Th e link between the 

new improved mills and communities of New 

England and N ew Lanark may b e sh own to be a 

consequence of Americans directly copying 

from Scots. 

13 lntormatron from Patrick Malone, Brown Universil y, USA 
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European mill co mmunit ies at 

w ate rfalls 

Large water-powered mill complexes are the 

exception in Britain as steam powe r allowed 

text ile mills to conce nt rate in pre-exist ing urban 

districts. A woo den-da mmed waterfall pow ered 

small woollen mills at T illicoult ry 

Clackrnannanshire. The rapid drop in th e River 

Ericht, Perthshire, allowed 12 small flax and jute 

mills to use water power at Blairgowrie, w here 

three w heels, two turbines and two steam 

engines survive to make an important water­

powered text ile lands cape. However, no 

waterfa Uin Britain could match the potential 

power of th e Falls of C lyde. 

Finlayson Cotton Mills. Tampere, Finland, founded in 1828, now 
part of a mixed- use development. Photo 1989. 

New Lanark can be considered a precursor to 

the fou nda tion of anoth er city around 

waterfalls, besides Lowell. Tam pere, the second 

biggest city in Finland, was found ed by a Scot, 

James Finlayson, born in Penicu ik and 

undoubtedly familiar w ith the west of Scotland 

cotton indu stry. He sited Finland's first cotton 

mill at a waterfall there in 1828. A second mill of 

1837 survi ves, containing the oldest iron 

colu mns in Finland, now a museum of wo rk. 

Other mills and weaving sheds are adapted to 

an inn ovative mixed-use development that will 

safeguard its future. Other companies were 

attracted to th e £111s, so Tarnpere was not for 

long a com pany town. 

On the bord er between Estonia and Russia a 

large waterfall divides Narva from Ivangorod. 

There, first Baron Steiglitz erected in 1845-9 a 

flax mill designed by th e Scot Sir William 

Fairbairn and th en Ludwig Knoop founded the 

Krenholm cotton mills on an island in 1858. 
T hese, expanding on the Estonian side along a 

power canal,became the biggest mill complex in 

Europe, having 458,350 spind les by 1901. Large 

barracks in brick and smaller timber houses, 

hospitals, chu rches, baths and schools were 

provided for th e workforce. While th e Steiglitz 

complex on th e Russian side is in poor shape 

but intact, the Krenholm cotton mills on th e 

Estonian side were badly damaged by fire in th e 

Second \iVorld \iVar but have since been repaired 

and re-equipped," 

Krenholm Mills, Narva, Estonia, founded 1858: the old mill on the island, with power station in the centre and waterfa ll fo the lett . 
Photograph circa 1900 supplied by Stuart Thomstone. 

14 Information from Stuart Thom stone, Nottingham University, and Jaan Vali , National Heritage Board , Estonia. 
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. ; : 'J· Kyrtsi-Tourpali cotto n mill , Naoussa, Greece, founded 
: - t , burned down in 1936, under restoration since 1986. 

: . : ~ 99 7 

- 'ier mill com m u nities developed in th e 19th 

.u rv at waterfalls in Switze rland SUd1 as 

r-Zeller,N euthal, Kanto n Zuri ch, c1825. In 

ce, Edessa and Naou ssa fro m 1874 had sma ll 

and two-storey mill s, equipped from 

- '.•iin and G ermany clustered at waterfalls 

~n g high-h ead turbines. T hese are now 

rt to imaginative conservation projects 

.ed on water parks, 

in, simila r groups of ho using an d social 

'd ings clustered at new sett lements founde d 

- "la ter-powered cotton mills, such as the 

Ilia Sed o (established 1846) and Colon ia 

I (1892) both in Catalon ia, The Parc Fluvial 

' ~ s-Be rga is a p roject to develop tourism 

. .~ 3 sect ion of th e river Llobregat in 

.alonia that has a high co ncentrat ion of
 

.' nric cotton textile colonies," These were
 

---'-bushed during the second half of the 19th
 

w ry, att racted by the close managerial 

_ :'.U'ol wh ich the textil e village allowed, and by 

__ hydraulic power pote nt ial of wate r in a 

. _ ..mtry with little coal. The aim of t he Pare is to 

encourage tourism to replace the declining 

textile economy and, by raising conscious ness of 

the historic value of the colonies, to secure th eir 

future. The colonies tra ce their origin to the 

18th century textile settlements in Britain, of 

w h ich New Lanark was the greatest, and the 

o nly one substant ially util ising a waterfall. 

New Lanark as a philanthropic textile 

mill village 

D ale and Owen set a sta nda rd for a 

philanthropi c mill village. D espite thi s, 

philanthropy is hard to detect as a motivation to 

employers in moulding other com m unities. T he 

most obvious m oti vation was generally financial 

success, the fruits of which might be spe nt in 

later years founding public park s, supporting 

hospitals and brass bands and endowing 

colleges. Linen manufacturers Baxter Brothers 

did all of these for Dundee, but th eir attempt to 

provide housing w ithin the city for their own 

wo rkforce failed. Their half-t ime school 

(d emolished in 1916) had a high reputation b ut 

the com m u nity could not be insulated from the 

rest of the city. Baxter Park is some distan ce 

from Baxter's Dens \ J\1orks, and Dundee 

U niversity is at the other side of the city so a 

clearly defined area of Baxters' sphe re of 

influence, exclusive of ot he r m agnates, is 

im possible to delineate . The same app lies to the 

later munificence of the Clarks and Coats in 

Paisley. 

More closely under mill-owners' thumbs was 

vValkerburn, founded in 1855. 1\vo woollen mills 

for members of the Ballantyne famil)~ th e early 

elem ents of w h ich are demolished, stood on a 

new site using water-power from the River 

Tweed, to be supplemented by a pum ped ­

sto rage system. The housing, built fro m 1855­

=- :; 'Jixarda, Catalonia (www.geocities.com/ RainPoresti Andes/ 1284) 

: - ~: ~:nat i on from website www.geocities.com/RainForesVAndes/ 1284 
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1920 for owners and workforce survive (the 

former bu t not th e latter is listed) and the place 

still resembles a mill village. T he owners' 

provision of limited facilities - th e Ballantyne 

Memorial Institute, 1904 - may be described as 

paternalist rather tha n ph ilanth ropic. T his was 

the only large water-powe red textile mill 

community founded in Scotland in th e 19th 

century. 

In Northern Ireland new linen communities 

were being built after that ph ase had all but 

ceased in Scotland: com munity buildings and 

ho using of a model form were provided at 

Bessbrook (Richardson's), from 1848, and 

similarly at Sion Mills (Herdm an' s), and Hilden, 

Lisburn, (Barbour's,from 183)} in each case 

some of th e housing is substantially altered 

(back to back ho using of th e 1830s at H ilden 

demolished) but mills and community 

buildings survive. At Bessbrook, Meakin (1905) 

described th e steady levelling up of the whole 

population, only to have th e community 

provisions almost all d ropped once a public 

company was created. Co nservation Areas 

protect tw o squares of housing, th e dam but not 

th e mills at Bessbrook, and mills and housing 

(som ewhat altered) at Sion Mills. 

In Lancashire, England, New Eagley Mill, and 

th e settlements of Bank Top, Turton and 
Egerton, north of Bolton, were renown ed for th e 

patern alism of the Ashworth family. Houses 

built in th e 1820s to 1840s were claime d to be of 

five or six rooms each and issued with 

bookshelves. Employees had to change th eir 

shirts twi ce a week and infract ions were 

enforced with fines. However, recent field 

investigation established th at it may be th at th e 

quality of the Ashworth housing - a high 

proportion back to back or with cellar 

loomshops - was "not exceptional and th e 

belief th at it might have been is the product of 

too readily accepting highly-selective and well­

publicised contemporary comm ent, not least by 

the Ashworths themselves"." Virtu ally all the 

windows and doors have been replaced and the 

mills are demoli shed or derelict, whereas th e 

Hilden Mill, Lisburn, Northern Ireland, dining room. 

adjacent Eagley Mills of th e Chadwi cks are now 

in multiple use, having been rebuilt in th e 1880s. 

A park, library dining and bath ing facilities were 

provided th ere from th e 1850s onwards. T hese 

paterna list showpieces were very much the 

exception, and would not be found in 

cottonopolis O ldha m, where th e mills were in 

th e hands of limited liability companies and no 

single owner held sway. 

English woo llen firm s were on average smaller 

th an cotton, and community settlements were 

consequently smaller. Tonedale, Wellington, 

Somerset is an example of a mill village un der 

th e paternal thu mb of th e Fox dynasty. More 

architectural cohesion is to be found in 

Yorkshire where Col. Edward Akroyd MP first 

built a new village at Copley from 1849: goth ic 

but with many detail alterations. The associated 

mill has been dem olished . Th is was followed by 

Akroydon, to designs in 1859 by Sir George 

G ilbert Scott and \iVJ--L Crossland: 350 houses 

focused on a village green with a replica Eleanor 

Cross and nearby magnificent All Souls Haley 

Hill church, H alifax. 

Apogee of the paternalist mill town, in both scale 

and ambition, is Saltaire, Shipley, dominated by a 

mill opened in 1853 which was Fairbairn's last 

influential word in mill technology. Gradations of 

housing and community buildings followed from 
1854-76. The mill has an assured fut ure, and the 

housing is well conserved. Sir Titus Salt had th e 

capital and th e vision to make his village a 

showpiece for caring capitalism, without the 

intention of changing society as a whole. 

16 G. Timmins, Industrial Archaeology Review, Vol XXII No 1. May 2000. 
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Above and left: Former back to back co ttages at Bank Top, 
~ 

England, as they are today and in a plan of the Ashworth s' "" 
~ 

property in 1833 (G.J. Timmins Indusfrial Archaeology 
Review XXII N0 1, May 2000) 

"~ 
~ 

B A N l~ 

L} 

Right: Col. Akroyd's statue in front o f his 
Haley Hill mill in Halifax, Yorkshire, and 
above right , housing in Akroydon in the 
domestic gothic style by GG Scott and 
WH Crossland . Their mullioned windows 
are not appreciated by all of the modern 
occup ants. 
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In England theearliest village ofthe class under 
consideration wasSaltaire.jounded in 1853 on the 
outskirts ofBradford by the lateSir Titus Saltfor the 
3,000-4,000 employees at his woollen mills. Now 
thatour ideals havesofar advanced, and ioe have 
industrial villages beside whichSaltaire is dismal 
and cramped, there isa tendency to disparage the 
immensestride marleed by its construction overhalf 
a century agojustas the improvedhousessecuredby 
RobertOwenforhispeopleat New Lanark almost 
as long before would nowbelooked down uponas 
quite inadequateforpresent day requirements. This 
however isa mistake, as whatever models we CCln 
pointout today are the direct outcomeand 
development ofthese earlypioneer experiments, and 
of theprinciples which underlay theni" 

In Verviers, Belgium, there are a number of 

mills, oldest being the large hand-powered 

woollen "au chat"mill of circa 1801, with 

Venetian w indowed gable, followed by th e 

Dethier Mills of1802-6. l'N O parallel blocks of 

fou r-storey back-to-back tenements , each with 

single-room flats, for a population of around 

800, were erected from 1808-1830, showing 

some simi larities to the earlier New Lanark 

models. They are being renovated. The Parede la 
Societe Royaled'Harmonie de 'venners, from the 

i .	 id 19th century, po ints perhaps to knowledge 
."L wen's ideas." 

Top: Salts' Mill, Shipley, Yorkshire, opened in 1853, (middle) the 
att ic and (bottom) the first phase of housing in Saltaire, built in 
1853-4: three-storey boarding houses front ing Caroline Street 
(after Mrs Salt) and two-storey overlookers ' houses on George 
Street (after one of their sons). 1996. 

~ •• J.' : :::el Factories and Villages: ideal condi tions 01 Labour and Housing (1905) 
=- --=- ,~s ="-chaeologie in Belgie (1990) pp236-242 
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Workers casino and housing opposite Poznanski's cott on
 
mill, Lodz , Poland.
 

Art as advertising: an engraving by John Winning,
 
commissioned by Robert Owen, of New Lanark to I 'r )I)I '
 
acco mpany the substant ial export s of the mills' II i '5/ lIr \. . J I JII) () I j
 

products to Russia. "On each ten-pound package we . . \ Ii t(), III \'I.
 
were wont to paste an engraving of the mills and village; and our ' . 1\ '1 11 1/.• II
 
yarn in consequence went by the name of picture yarn" (Robert Dale Owen). The
 
inscription reads in Russian: "New Lanark, Robert Owen and Co weN yarn of second best
 
quality". The sluice gate, Mechanics Shop and Waterman's house are in the foreground. (NLCT)
 

I ., 
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Later in Mu lho use, France, row and cluste r 

houses were buil t for the Dolfuss cotton mills as 

the Societe Mulhousienne des citesouurieres, 
found ed in 1853. By 1866, 600 houses were built 

and the total was 1,243 houses by 1900: a 

substan t ial tow n rather than a village. MJ'v1 

Sainte, Freres had erected some 500 houses at 

two "cites" at Flixecourt, considered by Meakin 

not ideal but convenient and cheap, subject to 

regular inspection by the firm. 

Lod z is th e chief text ile city in Poland and 

expand ed phen omena lly in the 19th century to 

supply th e Russian empire. There the pattern of 

closely kni tted u rban estates, comprising 

ow ner's palace and park, mill, hous ing and 

casino (combining place of recreation, dining 

room and self improvement of the workers) is 

still remarkably intact Those of Poznanski and 

Scheibler were the biggest: in each case th e mill 

owner 's house is a museum, th e housing is still 

inhabited - e.g. Sche ibler's 22 two-storey blocks 

in three rows built 1875-8, with school, sho ps, 

casino, hosp ita l,fire station and a lot of trees; 

Poznanski's, from 1878-1888, are four-storey and 

facilities include a relocated timber church - but 

the long te rm future of the mills is in doubt," 
As th e landscape is flat and urban, there are 

considerable differen ces as well as obvious 

parallels to New Lanark. 

In Russia prop er, the late 19th-century Yaroslav 

mills were equipped w ith laund ries, baths, a 

reading room, mo del dairy and hospital, well 

before th e Palace of Culture be came the staple 

of comm unist workplaces. Sma ller mills, now 

closed, in T ver were also equipped with multi­

purpose reading rooms not dissimilar to the 

Institute at New Lanark. As New Lana rk was a 

major exporter to Russia in Owen's time and as 

th e future Tsar Nicholas I visited Owen, th e 

sim ilarity to New Lanark of these later 19th­

centu ry paternalist mill complexes, and of t heir 

comm unist successors, however imperfect, may 

not be accidental. 

New Lanark as a Utopian village 

A strict Gre ek definition of Utopia is tha t it 

exists nowhere. Visionary schemes that came to 

no thing are not available for comparison of their 

state of cons ervation and so nee d not be 

recounted here. However, it was necessary for 

many of th e visionaries, Robert O wen and 

W illiam Allen am ong them, to point to a real 

place that came close to that perfect ion : namely, 

19 Information from Politechnika Lodzka and the Regional Centre for the Study and Preservation of the Monuments in Lodz. Poland. 
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New Lanark. Although New Lanark "vas 

found ed as a ph ilanthropically run village with 

profit as a pr ime, but not over-riding, objective, 

yet the way it was run un der Owen allows it to 

be held up as a practical model to Utopians. 

O ther practical examples were few. 

European Utopianism first cam e to impress 

British sensibilit ies in the form of small religious 

communit ies.Moravian sett lements set 

standards in England and Ireland, w ith deep 

religious conviction behind a set formula of 

planning and social organisation. Fulneck in 

Yorkshire came first, from 1744, in th e form of 

two long terraces. Fairfield near Manch ester was 

last to be built, from 1785 as a square with in a 

square now inside sprawling D roylsden ." O wen 

probably knew of it, as th e layout compares 

with his Villages of Co-operation Shaker 

communities in America similarly have roots in 

cent ral European religiou s com munit ies. 

Two continental 18th centu ry sett lements built 

un der royal pat ronage may be mentioned as the 

application of enlightenment thinking to 

architecture, town planning and improved 

manu facturing processes, and have been seen as 

th e springboard to a utopian futu re. 

In Italy Ferdinand IV of Naples founded th e San 

Leucio Royal silk manufacture in 1789 as a 

model factory and technical schoo l,where 

moral and behavioural codes were applied to a 

specially selected colony of 700 silk weavers, 

s : ~J n ill t n e WO RL D HERITAG E LI S T 

with lamilies." Although it was inspired by 1.1. 
Rousseau' s theories! the armies of the French 

First Republic ended the experiment in 1799. It 

lies within th e Royal Park of Caserta! inscribed 

as a World Heritage Site in 1997. The UNESCO 

inscription declares it "also of outstanding 

interest because of th e idealistic principles th at 

un de rlay its concept ion and management It is 

an eloquent expression of th e enlightenment in 

natural form integrated into rather than 

imposed u pon the natural landscape." 

In France th e Saline Royale de Chaux at Arc-et­

Senan s is by CN. Ledou x, in 1776-79: a 

panopticon hemisphere of remarkable neo­

classical workers' barracks with com munal 

kitchens, and two salt pan houses flanki ng a 

director's hou se as if it were a temple. Ledoux' 

time in prison enabled him to th eoret ically 

expand Chaux to encompass th e saltwo rks 

within a whole imaginary city. Published in 1804 

as a visual allegory - architecture as an 

Arc-et-Senans, France. Monumental classicism by CN Ledoux, 
1776- 79.1986 

San Leucio, Italy. The only part of the radially-plann ed tow n to be completed is in the foreground, The silk works is uphill to the left, 
arranged around a courtyard, and the terraced Filanda del Cipressi co tton mill was added to its right in circa 1826-30. (G E Rubino, 
Universita degli Studi di Napoli Federico II) 

20 Gillian Darley Villages of Vision (1978) Pp 148- 175
 
21 G.E.Rubino "Storia e conservazione della Manifattura Reale Borbonica di San l.eucto" in La Fabbrica come Laboratorio P Chierici, ed . (Torino, 1998)
 

28 



No m in a t i o n o f N EW LA N A R K for tn c t u s io n n t h e W OR L D H ERiT .AG E LIST 

instrument of egalitarian soc ial reform - Led oux 

thus ret rospectively transformed his saltworks 

much as O wen's writings were to transform 

percepti ons of New Lanark. Salt pro d uction 

ceased in 1895 and the director's house was 

dynamited in 1926. Restoration from a very 

damaged state began in 1936, replacing all th e 

roofs and much sto nework, to hou se Le Centre 
International de Rejlexionsur I.e Futu r , now the 

Fondation CN Ledoux" It too is an inscribed 

World Heritage Site, and one that co-operated 

with New Lanark and Le Grand H ornu in th e 

prom otion of a conference on contemporary 

industrial architecture in 1999 and th e 

exhibition "Ideal Cities" in 20 00 , 

"While conte mplating Led oux ' Utop ia th e 

m ind moves back to Robert Owen and forward 

to Fourier"," Charles Fourier's Le nouveau monde 
industriel carne out in 1829 but th e first French 

phalansteres it promoted had to wait until after J­
B Andre God in started his stove foundry at 

G uise, North East France, in 1846. In 1880 he 

gave owne rship to his 1200 wo rkers. Comm unal 

family living was and is promoted in four four­

storey ten ement blocks with deck-access from 

wrought iron-roofed courts, Familisicres, built in 

1859-1883 opposite a th eat re, school and baths 

built in 1869.24 These are in good condit ion, 

now ow ned by the municipality and inhabited 

by 300 families . 

Insp ired by Fourier, and indirectly Owen, Albert 

Brisbane took th is philosophy to the USA, 

where more than 50 pha lanxes \·vere set up (e.g 

Phalanx, New Jersey 1849) in the mid 19th 

century; having an average life of two years. 

Kibb utzim in Israel may be said to have a similar 

origin. 

New Lanark as an Owenite village 

Inspired by Owen's vigorous promotion of his 

experien ce at New Lanark, several O wenite 

commu nities were set up in the USA and seven 

in Britain . None achieved the success hop ed by 

their foun ders. 

In 1825 Owen moved on from New Lanark to 

inject new life into a co-operative community at 

New Harm ony Ind iana, USA, established by 

New Harmony, Indiana, USA. The Owe n Community House (and plaque) (New Lanark Conservation Trust, 1983) 

22 P Bonnet The Royal Salt -Works 01 Arc -et-Senacs (n.d .) 
23 N Pevsner. A Hislo,,/ 01 Buifdi ng Types (1976) pp278-283 
24 F Bollerey Architekturkonzeption en der ulop ische n Sozialis ten (1977) pp 150- 167 
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I, Father Rapp in 1814. Inevitably, and lacking a 
manufacturing purpose, the project faltered and 

Ii th e com munity buildings surviving there are 

somewhat scatte red amo ngst subsequent 
development. The grid plan does not possess 

th e architectural and townscape coherence of 
th e tight er site at New Lanark. Several bu ildings 

are individ ually protected, but some of these 
have been moved from th eir original location. 

The Harmonist log cabins are reconstru ctions. 
The communal granary was restored in 1999. 

Historic New Harmony Inc. is wholly owned by 
descendants of Robert Owen and cultural 
excha nges with New Lanark Conservation Trust 

are strong. 

Orbiston, Motherwell , Lanarkshire: the site of the comm unal 
building and re-used stone from it at a forge nearby (in 2000). 
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O rbiston, Lanarkshire, was an offshoot of New 
Lanark while Owen was in America, receiving 

as teacher th e freethinking sister of Stedman 
Whitwell, O wen's architect It had the 

appearance of part of a Village of Co-ope ration, 
or one wing of a Fouri er phalanx, but lasted 
only from 1825 to 1827 'T he huge structure t hat 
had been intended to hasten in the millennium 

was razed to th e ground and for a time served as 
a quarry for the neighbourhood"." Beside a weir 

in Strathclyde Country Park the cut-down walls 
of a forge seems to incorporate re-used dressed 

masonry from this building. 

The last of O wen's colonies,Qu eenwo od at 

1)rthe rle)~ Hampshire, England is now a deserted 
ruin th at has returned to nature. It was 

established in 1839 but was unable to support 
itself T he large pu blic bu ilding, Harm ony Hall, 

erected before any cultivation of the land that 

was to suppor t it, was defunct by 1845. 

William Allen, one of Owen's new Q uaker 

part ners from 1814, w hile horrified at Owen's 
diffidence regarding revealed religion, was 

sufficiently inspired by the New Lanark 
experiment to promote, th rough his 

publications, Colonies at Home. From 1846 th e 

Chart ist Land Company built five settlements 
in England direct ly influenced by Allen, but 
collapsed in 1851 Charterville and 
O'Conno rville com prise mostly cottages and 
smallholdings and are the antithesis of urban . 
Ideals alone could not support such 
communities: manufacturing industry was 

required to give an econo mic base to support a 
sizeab le popu lation: this New Lanark had. 

New Lanark was a major eleme nt in O wen's 

propaganda for the New System of Society 
art iculated forcefully on trade union, co­
operative and political platforms in the 1830s 
and '40s. O wen could rightly claim that his 
social expe riment in man-management at New 
Lanark had been a success and might serve as an 
inspiration to others at home and overseas. 

25 Alex Cullen. Adventures in Socialism (1910) 
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M Owen's Institution, New Lanark, by G Hunt,
 
825 (NLCT)
 

New Lanark as a pioneer in 

education for all 

Dale provided innovative 

schooling in which children} a 

significant part of the 

workforce, graduated through 

eight different levels of 
,t7 86 

attainment T his mu st have 

been in Mill 4, and possibly briefly 

in New Buildings. The curricu lum com pared 

favourably with that provided in the Charity 

Schools w ith which Dale "vas more or less 

altru istically involved, and wit h th at at Catrine 

(probably in an att ic of the de molished mills). A 

schoo l was also provide d at Woo dside cotto n 

mill south of Glasgow. In England, Ark wright 

and Strutt provided Sunday Schoo ls in 

Cromford and Belper in 1785}and Rees' 

drawings of th e Belper North Mill ofl804 show 

a further schoo lroom in the attic of th at mill. 

Therefore, no free standing factory schools of 

the 18th century survive} or appear to have ever 

existed . Schoolrooms improvised in attics 

~H YTHMIC D'NCING By EMPl O YEES- 'OOlJRNV'llE WOR"s 

Rhythmic dancing by 
employees- Bournville Works. Similar 
classical forms of dress to that used by children in the New 
Lanark of Owen's time were used more than a century later at 
an English model factory community. Either both refer back to 
the original classical source, or perhaps this is a copy ing of 
New Lanark? 

continued to be quite com mo n well into the 

19th century The first purpose-bui lt mill 

schools are th ose bu ilt by O wen at New Lanark. 

Vlhen Owen reformed the partnership in 1814, 

his partners Jeremy Bentham, William Allen 

and Joseph Fox were primarily interested in 

New Lanark's educational potential. The New 

Instit ution and the Scheel were rapidly 
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completed and offered a curriculum 

emphasising th e expressive arts, dancing, singing 

and recitation. They also performed oth er 

communal fun ctions, as lecture and dining 

rooms, and for religiou s services. They consist of 

large well-lit rooms in which th e students 

(infants to adults) were taught by assistant 

teachers all overseen by the master on a 

platform at one end - possibly the galleries, 

when not taken up by visitors or musicians. 

D esigned to give no uri shment for mind and 

body of all ages, the New Institution seems to be 

the earliest of its kin d anywhere and was the 

first concrete expression of 0,veri 's 

environmental and communitarian ideas. 

The closest com parable school surviving in 

England is the Sunday School at M acclesfield, 

1813, lour- storeys externally the upper two 

lighting a single large galleried roo m in w hich 

th e Lancasterian system of education by 

mon itors was pract ised. T his is now a m useum 

to t he silk ind ustry. 

The Lancasterian system gave way in 

educational thinking to the Stow system, in 

w hich children were gathered on stepped 

galleries at one end of a school room . T he 

Norn1al Seminary on G arscube Road, G lasgow, 

1836 is th e pre-eminent surviving example bu ilt 

to that system. T he great majority of Scottish 

schools we re bu ilt afte r the 1872 Education Act . 

New Lanark Prim ary School of 1883 is a typical 

single-storey example to offer a cont rast w ith 

U1 0se built by Owen. 

The H alf-Time system, in which pup ils would 

work alternate days or half days as shifters in 

mills, was of continuing importance in Scottish 

textile districts. Su rv iving schools of the mid 

and late 19th century exist at: Alexande rs', D uke 

Street, Gl asgow; Coats, Ferguslie, Paisley (fire­

damaged and under threat): Paton 's Kilncraigs, 

Alloa (a recently shut mill shop, so also under 

th reat); Cox's Camperdow n \Norks, Dunde e (a 

Boys Brigade Hall) and Valleyfield Paper M ills, 

Penicuik (sma ll, converted to a hou se) All owe a 

debt to NevvLanark. 

New Lanark as the bi rthplace of 
co-operat ion 

T he Village Store at New Lan ark, fou nded by 

Owen in th e early 19th century and still a shop 

toda) ~ pioneered a fair trad ing system, which 

brought ben efits to the comm unity and its 

user s. Profits from U1e store paid the teachers' 

salaries. It is regard ed by th e International Co­

operative alliance as the seedbed of the co ­

operat ive m ovement There were three million 

members of co-ope rat ive retail societies in 

Britain alone by 1914. 

T his sets it apa rt from the factory tru ck shops 

that we re set and run w ithout scru ple by other 

ent repre neurs in otherwise similar shop s, few of 

which are recognisable today. 

A close link with th e British co-operative 

societies exists in th e shop founded by the 

"Rochdale Pioneers", themselves O wenites, in 

Rochdale, Lancashire in 1844. It is now a 

museum bu t its immediate environs in a 

pedestrian precinct do not compa re w ith th ose 

of New Lanark. 
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The Falls of Clyde as a source 
of pow er 

TIle continuing import ance of th e Clyde as a 

power source is underlined by th e pioneer 

development on the Falls of Clyde oflarge 

public hydro-elect ric power stations in Britain. 

At two similar white con crete power stat ions at 

Bonnington (1927) and Stonebyres (1928) th e 

original Francis turbines still generate 11,000 kW 

The pipes for the Bonnington Power station were contrived to 
just miss the Vrew House in 1926. (RCAHMS Scott ish Power 
Collection) 

and 5,500 kW respectively. For comparable or 

larger sites from that period it is necessary to 

look to Canada, USA and Scandinavia. 

The m odern design aesth etic established at 

Bonnington, guided by a committee established 

to ensure the sympathetic insertion of th e hydro 

'2>'2> 
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Left: Water colour of New Lanark from Braxfield, c1810 by 
Hugh William Williams shows Mill Number 1 still without the 
waterhou ses, and the ends of Double , Long, Mantilla and 
Braxfield Rows. ( NLCT/Kelvingrove Art Gallery and Museum, 
Glasgow) and below the same view today. 

scheme into th e landscape, was repeated ten 

years later at C alloway and, post-war,by the 

No rth of Scotland Hydro -electric Board. Sir 

Edward MacColl, engineer for th e latter; had 

first cut his teeth at th e Falls of Clyde. 

The use of tilting weirs, which do not raise 

water levels,and the absence of dams on th e 

Clyde is a facto r that has preserved the cultu ral 

and natural landscape of the b uffer zone. In 
winter, and on a few days in the summer 

holidays, water is routed over th e falls so that 

th eir full force may be appreciated. 

New Lanark as part of a Sublime 
Landscape 

,-\1though implicit in Ch inese land scaping for 

centuries, it was in Britain that the theory of 

picturesque and sublime landscaping was first 

efined during the 18th century. Scotland, with 

an abundance of wild scenery close to the 

settled lowlands and a dramatic topographical 

and geological st ru cture, became a principal 

[OLLI S for picturesque and sublime appreciation. 

As waterfalls, precipices and gorges comprised 

:he main ingredients of sublime and 

picturesque attractions, sites such as the Falls of 

Clyde, Roslin G len and the hills and glens 

'round D unkeld becam e essential stopping 

~ iaces for th ose 18th-century tourists who had 
__ime in search of w ild natu re. It is on the 

_onnington estate, immediately upstream of 

. :ew Lanark, that we find the earliest known 

_.iilding in Scotland specifically sited for th e 

'oyment of wild nature. Built in 1708, th e 

onni ngton view-ho use created an exp licit 

' ~ua l dialogue between th e ordered beauty of 

::c;e park on the one hand, and the wild 

rrandeur of the neighbou ring gorge on the 

:':-it'r. Carefully sited riverside path s, br idges and 

({'YOU cometo a spot; asyou descendthe 

hill where you have ajull viewof the 

greatfalls of the CLYDe with the 

accompanying rocks and woods which 

fonn the banks of the river. At the same 

time you see thegreen hillsJ and thecattle 

and sheep feeding upon them, at the 

summits ofthe banks on each side and 

ova the tops of the trees. Thefine 

buildings of thefactoriesarejust under 

you:and this, all taken together, is byfar 

the most beautdulsightthatmy eyes ever 

beheld". 

vVilliam Cobbett, 1832. 

view points have been combined with judiciou s 

planting on thi s and th e neighbouring estates of 

Co rehouse, New Lanark, Braxfi eld and 

Castlebank to create a composite land scape of 

natio nal significance. Each borrows views from 

the other. 

The designed and natural landscape forms th e 

sett ing and amb ience of New Lanark and is 

intimately bound up with the value of th e site. 

2(c) Assurance of Authenticity and 

Integrity 

The Nara D ocument on Authenti city states that 

authe nt icity,as a value attributed to cultural 

property, is a reflection of local culture, In 

Scotland, th e Stirling Charter sets out broad 

principles for conservat ion as sustainable 

management, including presumptions in favour 
of preservation, reversibility, minimum 

inter vention and guidance th rough conservation 
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New Lanark village. key to specirn en dwelling surv eys by RCA HMS , layout taken from 1st editio n O.S. map, surveyed in 1857- 8. (RCAHMS) .
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. h surveye d 1857-8 If Lanark Pans , 1 the Nationa Survey Map 0. 1the Trustees 0Ordnance d by permission 0(R produce 
eLibrary 01Scotland) 
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Aerial view of New Lanark taken 2S.7.1995IRCAHMS) 
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